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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Members of FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited

(“the Company"™), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025, the Statement of Profit and
Loss, including the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and the
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of material accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
aforesaid financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013, as amended
("the Act™) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting
principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2025, its
profit including other comprehensive loss, its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year ended on
that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs),
as specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further
described in the 'Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements’' section of our
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of
Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion on the financial statements.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’'s Report Thereon

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the directors' report, but does not include the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether such other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

The director’s report is not made available to us as at the date of this auditor's report. We have nothing
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Responsibilities of Management for the financial statements

The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with
respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial
position, financial performance including other comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in equity
of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. This responsibility also includes maintenance
of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the
assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and
application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that
were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records,
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view
and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

»  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are
also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such
controls.

. Ev;gt_uate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
~ estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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»  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safequards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. Asrequired by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order™), issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the
“Annexure 1" a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

2. Asrequired by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so
far as it appears from our examination of those books except for the matters stated in the
paragraph (i)(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g);

(c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other
Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with
by this Report are in agreement with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards
specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards)
Rules, 2015, as amended;

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2025
taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on
March 31, 2025 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act;

(f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to these financial
statements and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in
s "Annexure 2" to this report;

'(‘g.)'\f\_'l'he provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V of the Act are not applicable to the Company
T-L//'or the year ended March 31, 2025;
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(h) The modification relating to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected
therewith are as stated in the paragraph (b) above on reporting under Section 143(3)(b) and
paragraph (i)(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g);

(i) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with
Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended in our opinion and to
the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:

) The Company does not have pending litigations - Refer Note 43B to the
financial statements;

(i) The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative
contracts for which there were any material foreseeable losses;

(iii) There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor
Education and Protection Fund by the Company.;

(iv) (@) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and
belief, as disclosed in the note 54 (v) to the financial statements, no funds
have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or
share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in
any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities
(“Intermediaries"), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or
otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or
invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or
on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries") or provide any
guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

(b) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and
belief, as disclosed in the note 54 (vi) to the financial statements, no funds
have been received by the Company from any person(s) or entity(ies),
including foreign entities ("Funding Parties"), with the understanding,
whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall, whether,
directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in
any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate
Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the
Ultimate Beneficiaries; and

(c) Based on such audit procedures that were considered reasonable and
appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has
caused us to believe that the representations under sub-clause (a) and (b)
above contain any material misstatement.

(V) No dividend has been declared or paid during the year by the Company.

(vi) Based on our examination which included test checks, the Company has used
various accounting softwares for maintaining its books of account which have
a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the respective
software, except as follows (refer Note 50 to the financial statements)

- a) Audit trail feature is not enabled at the -

» database level and for modifications to master data fields in respect of
the accounting software and
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b)

» in respect of supporting softwares, audit trail feature is not enabled for
all the relevant transactions recorded in the software.

With respect to third-party operated software applications, in the absence
of Service Organisation Controls report on audit trail, as described in
Note 50 to the financial statements, we are unable to comment on
whether the audit trail feature with respect to third-party operated
software applications was enabled and operated throughout the year for
all relevant transactions recorded in these software applications or
whether there were any instances of the audit trail feature being tampered
with.

Additionally, the audit trail of prior year has been preserved by the Company as per the
statutory requirements for record retention to the extent it was enabled and recorded in the

respective years.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP

Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

per Govind Ahuja
Partner

Membership Number: 048966
UDIN: 25048966BMNXHJ8190

Mumbai
May 13, 2025
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Annexure 1 referred to in paragraph [1] under Report on ‘Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ of our report of even date

Re: FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited (the “"Company")

In terms of the information and explanations sought by us and given by the Company and
the books of account and records examined by us in the normal course of audit and to the
best of our knowledge and belief, we state that:

0] (a)

(b)

©)

(d

(e

(D) (a)

(b)

a i @

(A) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including
quantitative details and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment.

(B) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of
intangibles assets.

The Company has a programme of physical verification of Property, Plant and
Equipment to cover all the items in phased manner over a period of three years,
which in our opinion is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and
nature of its assets. Pursuant to such programme, certain Property, Plant and
Equipment were physically verified during the year. According to the information
and explanation provided to us, no material discrepancies were noticed on such
verification,

According to information and explanations given by the management and based on
the examination of the financial statements there is no immovable property held in
the name of the Company. In respect of immovable properties that have been
taken on lease and disclosed as property, plant, and equipment in the financial
statement, based on our examination of the lease agreements, the lease
agreements are in the name of the Company, where the Company is the lessee in
the agreement.

The Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right
of use assets) or intangible assets during the year ended March 31, 2025.

There are no proceedings initiated or are pending against the Company for holding
any benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property Transactions Act,
1988 and rules made thereunder.

Physical verification of inventory has been conducted at reasonable intervals
during the year by management. In our opinion, the coverage and procedure of
such verification by the management is appropriate. There were no discrepancies
of 10% or more noticed, in the aggregate for each class of inventory.

As disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements, the Company has been
sanctioned working capital limits in excess of Rs five crores in aggregate from
banks during the year on the basis of security of current assets of the Company.
Based on the records examined by us in the normal course of audit of the financial
statements, the quarterly returns/statements filed by the Company with such
banks are in agreement with the books of accounts of the Company.

During the year the Company has not provided loans, advances in the nature of
loans, stood guarantee or provided security to companies, firms, Limited Liability
Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly, the requirement to report on
clause 3(iii)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.
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(iv)

)

i)

(vii)

(b)

©

(d)

(e

®

(@

During the year the Company has not made investments, provided guarantees,
provided security and granted loans and advances in the nature of loans to
companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly,
the requirement to report on clause 3(iii)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

The Company has not granted loans and advances in the nature of loans to
companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly,
the requirement to report on clause 3(iii)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

The Company has not granted loans or advances in the nature of loans to
companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly,
the requirement to report on clause 3(iii)(d) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

There were no loans or advance in the nature of loan granted to companies, firms,
Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly, the requirement to
report on clause 3(iii)(e) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has not granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans, either
repayable on demand or without specifying any terms or period of repayment to
companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly,
the requirement to report on clause 3(iii)(f) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

There are no loans, investments, guarantees, and security in respect of which
provisions of sections 185 and 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Act’) are
applicable and accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(iv) of the Order
is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has neither accepted any deposits from the public nor accepted any
amounts which are deemed to be deposits within the meaning of sections 73 to 76
of the Act and the rules made thereunder, to the extent applicable. Accordingly,
the requirement to report on clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

The Company is not in the business of sale of any goods or provision of such
services as prescribed. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(vi) of
the Qrder is not applicable to the Company.

The Company is regular in depositing with appropriate authorities undisputed
statutory dues including goods and services tax, provident fund, employees' state
insurance, income-tax, duty of customs, cess and other statutory dues applicable
to it. According to the information and explanations given to us and based on audit
procedures performed by us, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of these
statutory dues were outstanding, at the year end, for a period of more than six
months from the date they became payable. The provisions relating to sales-tax,
service tax, duty of excise and value added tax are not applicable to the Company.
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(b) The dues of goods and services tax, provident fund, employees’ state insurance,
income-tax, sales-tax, service tax, duty of custom, duty of excise, value added tax,
cess, and other statutory dues have not been deposited on account of any dispute,

are as follows:
(Rs. in crores)

Name of the Nature | Amount | Period to which | Forum where the
statute of the (Rs) the amount dispute is
dues relates pending

Delhi Goods and GST 2.99 | FY 2017-18 Assistant
Service Tax, Commissioner of
2017 State Tax
Uttar Pradesh GST 0.34 | FY 2018-19 Deputy
Goods and FY 2019-20 Commissioner of
Service Tax, FY 2020-21 state tax
2017
Chandigarh GST 1.10 | FY 2018-19 Commercial Tax
Goods and Officer
Service Tax,
2017
Odisha Goods and | GST 0.00* | FY 2018-19 Office of the
Service Tax, Superintendent
2017
Karnataka Goods | GST 0.13 | FY 2018-19 Assistant
and Service Tax, FY 2019-20 Commissioner of
2017 State Tax
Jammu & GST 0.01 | FY 2019-20 State Taxes
Kashmir Goods officer
and Service Tax,
2017
West Bengal GST 0.01 | FY 2019-20 Office of the
Goods and Special
Service Tax, Commissioner of
2017 revenue
West Bengal GST 0.02 | FY 2020-21 Joint
Goods and Commissioner
Service Tax,
2017
Gujarat Goods GST 0.01 | FY 2020-21 State Tax officer
and Service Tax,
2017

* Less than 0.01 crores.

(viii) The Company has not surrendered or disclosed any transaction, previously
unrecorded in the books of account, in the tax assessments under the Income Tax
Act, 1961 as income during the year. Accordingly, the requirement to report on
clause 3(viii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.
——x>=._(@) The Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or other borrowings or in
e \\\ the payment of interest thereon to any lender.

The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial
institution or government or any government authority.
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x)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

©

(d

(e)

("

@

(b)

(a)

(b)

©

@

(b)

Term loans were applied for the purpose for which the loans were obtained.

On an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, no funds
raised on short-term basis have been used for long-term purposes by the
Company.

The Company does not have any subsidiary, associate or joint venture.
Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(ix)(e) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.

The Company does not have any subsidiary, associate or joint venture.
Accordingly, the requirement to report on Clause 3(ix)(f) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.

The Company has not raised any money during the year by way of initial public
offer/ further public offer (including debt instruments) hence, the requirement to
report on clause 3(x)(@) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of
shares /fully or partially or optionally convertible debentures during the year under
audit and hence, the requirement to report on clause 3(x)(b) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.

No fraud by the Company or no fraud on the Company has been noticed or
reported during the year.

During the year, no repart under sub-section (12) of section 143 of the Act has
been filed by the secretarial auditor or by us in Form ADT - 4 as prescribed under
Rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central
Government.

As represented to us by the management, there are no whistle blower complaints
received by the Company during the year.

In our opinion, the Company is not a Nidhi company as per the provisions of the
Act. Therefore, the requirement to report on clause 3(xii) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.

Transactions with the related parties are in compliance with section 188 of the
Act, where applicable, and the details have been disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements, as required by the applicable accounting standards. The
provisions of section 177 are not applicable to the Company and accordingly the
requirements to report under clause 3(xiii) of the Order insofar as it relates to
section 177 of the Act is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature
of its business.

The internal audit reports of the Company issued till the date of the audit report,
for the period under audit have been considered by us.
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(xv)

(xvi)

(xvii)

(xvii)

(xix)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or
persons connected with its directors and hence requirement to report on clause
3(xv) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The provisions of section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (2 of 1934)
are not applicable to the Company. Accordingly, the requirement to report on
clause (xvi)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company has not engaged in any Non-Banking Financial or Housing Finance
activities. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(xviXb) of the Order
is not applicable to the Company.

The Company is not a Core Investment Company as defined in the regulations
made by Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause
3(xvi)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

There is no Core Investment Company as a part of the Group, hence, the
requirement to report on clause 3(xvi)d) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

The Company has not incurred cash losses in the current financial year and in the
immediately preceding financial year.

There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year and
accordingly requirement to report on clause 3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable
to the Company.

On the basis of the financial ratios disclosed in note 49 to the financial statements,
ageing and expected dates of realization of financial assets and payment of
financial liabilities, other information accompanying the financial statements, our
knowledge of the Board of Directors and management plans and based on our
examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to our
attention, which causes us to believe that any material uncertainty exists as on the
date of the audit report that Company is not capable of meeting its liabilities
existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a period of
one year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an
assurance as to the future viability of the Company. We further state that our
reporting is based on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we neither
give any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a period
of one year from the balance sheet date, will get discharged by the Company as
and when they fall due.
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(xx) a &b The provisions of Section 135 to the Act in relation to Corporate Social
Responsibility is not applicable to the Company. Accordingly, the requirement to
report on clause 3(xx)(@) and 3(xx)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAIl Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

per Govind Ahuja

Partner

Membership Number: 048966
UDIN: 25048966BMNXHJ8190
Mumbai

May 13, 2025
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ANNEXURE ‘2" TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT OF EVEN DATE

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the
Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’)

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of FSN Brands
Marketing Private Limited (‘the Company’) as of March 31, 2025 in conjunction with our audit of the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls
based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering
the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial
Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI").
These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal
financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its
business, including adherence to the Company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with reference to
these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance
Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note") and the
Standards on Auditing, as specified under Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an
audit of internal financial controls and, both issued by the ICAl. Those Standards and the Guidance Note
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to these financial
statements was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material
respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls system with reference to these financial statements and their operating effectiveness.
Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to these financial statements included obtaining
an understanding of internal financial controls with reference to these financial statements, assessing
the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our audit opinion on the Company's internal financial controls system with reference to these financial
statements.
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting with Reference to these Financial
Statements

A Company's internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to financial statements is
a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A Company's internal financial control with reference to financial statements
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to these Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements,
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation
of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to
the risk that the internal financial controls over financial reporting may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2025, based on the internal control over financial
reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control
stated in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

P "
N T A

per Govind Ahuja {':L MUMBAI | II"

Partner \k =\ ) a)

Membership Number: 048966 ’\,{ S/

UDIN: 25048966BMNXHJ8190 \

Mumbai

May 13, 2025

Page 13 of 13




FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited
(Amounts in ¥ crore, unless stated otherwise)

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025

As at As at
Pyticsns Notes | March 31,2025 March 31, 2024 |
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 86.28 69.38
Capital work-in-progress 5 0.35 217
Intangible assets ] 0.65 1.50
Right of use assets r 195.86 148.80
Intangible assets under development ] 0.03 -
Financial assets
Investments 9 0.00 0.00
Other financial assets 10 37.81 30.00
Deferred tax assets (net) 1 25.36 30.73
Non current tax assets (net) 2.80 5.77
Other non current assets 12 0.72 2.97
Total non-current assets (A) 349.96 291.32
Current assets
Inventories 13 452.58 32414
Financial assets
Trade receivables 14 28.31 17.74
Cash and cash equivalents 15 4.45 1.81
Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 16 0.01 0.26
Other financial assets 17 34.69 2230
Other current 18 67.27 55.07
Total current assets (B) 587.31 421.32
Total Assets (A+B) 837.27 712.64
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity share capital 19 102.00 102.00
Other equity 20 (69.18) (B3.63)
Total equity (A} 32.82 18.37
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Financial liabilities
Borrowings 21 110.13 94.82
Lease liabilities 22 134.93 104,19
Provisions 23 1.86 0.97
Total non-current liabilities (B) 247.01 199.98
Current liabilities:
Financial liabilities
Borrowings 24 403.05 273.93
Lease liabilities 25 75.73 60.95
Trade payables 28
-Total outstanding dues of micro enterprise and small enterprises 1.81 5:51
-Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 137.20 127.33
Other financial liabilities 27 33.36 20.51
Provisions 28 1.19 0.97
Contract liabilities 29 1.03 0.76
Other current liabilities 30 4.07 4.33
Total current liabilities (C) 657.44 494.29
Total liabilities (B+C) 904.45 694.27
Total equity and liabilities (A+B+C) 937.27 712.64

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements

As per our report of even date

For S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants .

ICAl Firm Registration No: 101049W/E300004

A

per Govind Ahuja
Partner
Membership No: 048966

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 13, 2025

For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited

Anchi N- ar
Director
DIN DB351358

an lyer
ol ny Secretary
ACS M.No. A54536

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 13, 2025

W

P Ganesh
Director
DIN 07202923

Gopal Agiwal
Chief Financial Officer

Place: Mumbai
Date; May 13, 2025




FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited

(Amounts are in ¥ crore except per share data and unless stated otherwise)

Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2025

For the year ended

For the year ended

Farticylars Notes | march 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Income
Revenue from operations 31 1,257.86 1,002.14
Other income 32 9.76 9.25
Total Income 1,267.62 1,011.39
Expenses
Purchase of traded goods 33 946.58 752.65
Changes in inventories of stock-in-trade 34 (127.19) (86.84)
Employee benefits expense 35 98.98 90.39
Finance costs 36 61.13 48.40
Depreciation and amortisation expense 37 105.90 83.82
Other expenses 38 160.82 111.08
Total expenses 1,246.22 999.50
Profit before tax 21.40 11.89
Tax expense:
Current tax 11 1.02 -
Deferred tax 11 5.51 4.05
Total tax expense 6.53 4.05
Profit after tax 14.87 7.84
Other Comprehensive Income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurement (losses)/gains of defined benefit plan 41 (0.56) 0.14
Income tax effect on above 11 0.14 (0.03)
Other comprehensive (losses)/income for the year, net of tax (0.42) 0.11
Total Comprehensive Income for the year 14.45 7.95
Earnings per share of face value ¥ 10/- each
Basic 39 1.46 0.77
Diluted 1.46 0.77

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements

As per our report of even date

For S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm Regiftration No: 101049W/E300004

per Govind Ahuja
Partner :
Membership No: 048966 -

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 13, 2025

For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited

Anchit Nayar
Director
DIN 08351358

ACS M.No. A54536

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 13, 2025

W

P Ganesh
Director
DIN 07202923

W

Gopal Agiwal
Chief Financial Officer

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 13, 2025




FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited
(Amounts in ¥ crore, unless stated otherwise)

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2025

Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit before tax as per Statement of Profit & Loss 21.40 11.89
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:
Depreciation of property, plant & equipment and right of use assets 105.05 82,99
Amortisation of intangible assets 0.85 0.83
Interest expense and other finance costs 61.13 48.40
Liabilities no longer reguired written back - (0.58)
Share based expense - (0.06)
Provision for gratuity expense 0.52 0.51
Provision for compensated expense 0.25 (0.27)
Allowance for expected credit losses (0.37) 0.42
Interest income (4.70) (3.43)
Unrealised loss / (gain) on foreign exchange fluctuations (net) 0.44 (0.03)
Gain on cancellation/ termination of lease (2.12) (0.97)
Operating profit before working capital changes 182.45 139.70
Working capital adjustments:
(Increase)/Decraase in trade receivables (10.20) 543
(Increase) in inventories (128.44) (87.60)
(Increase) in current financial asset (7.42) (14.29)
(Increase) in non-current financial assets (10.86) (3.20)
(Increase) in other current assets (12.20) (12.50)
(Increase) in other Non current assets (0.13) -
Increase in trade payables 1.42 19.63
(Decrease) in provisions (0.14) (0.44)
Increase/{Decrease) in current financial liabilities 8.48 (0.66)
Increase in other current liabilities 0.01 1.94
Cashflow from operations 22.97 48.01
Payment of taxes (net of refunds) 1.96 (1.92)
Net cash flows g d from operating activities (A) 24.93 46.09
Cash flows from Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets (34.28) (26.61)
Investment in shares of fellow subsidiary - (0.00)*
Interest received 0.02 »
Proceeds of non-current bank deposit 0.29 =
Investment in non-current bank deposit (3.28) -
Proceeds from current bank deposit 0.25 -
Net cash flows (used in) investing activities (B) (37.01) (26.61)
Cash flows from Financing activities
Proceeds of long-term debt from holding Company 10.00 94,82
Repayment of long term debt from holding Company (183.90) (86.78)
Proceeds of long term loan from Bank 47.13 -
Proceeds from current borrowings (net) 269.40 70.85
Interest paid on borrowings (37.59) (25.43)
Commission on financial guarantee (2.28) (0.99)
Principal payment of lease liabilities (69.01) (54.99)
Interest paid on lease liabilities (19.03) {17.77
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (C) 14.72 {20.29)
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 2.64 (0.81)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1.81 262
Cash and cash its at the year end (Refer note 15) 4.45 1.81

*Less than ¥ 0.01 crore
Notes:

1. Non cash transaction relating to investing and financing activities (refer note 17, 27 and 40)
2. The cash flow statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 7 Statement of

Cash flows.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements

As per our report of even date

For S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants )

ICAIl Firm Registration No: 101049W/E300004

For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited

»

P Ganesh

per Govind Ahuja Anc ar
Partner Director
Membership No: 048966 DIN 08351358

ACS M.No. A54536

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 13, 2025

Place; Mumbai
Date: May 13, 2025

Director
DIN 072029823

Gopal Afiwal
Chief Financial Officer

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 13, 2025




FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited
(All amounts are in ¥ crore, unless stated otherwise)

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended March 31
A. Equity share capital (refer note 19):

Equity shares of # 10 each issued, subscribed and fully paid

, 2025

Particulars No. of shares Amount
As at April 01, 2023 10,20,00,000 102.00
Issue during the year - -
As at March 31, 2024 10,20,00,000 102.00
Issue during the year - -
As at March 31, 2025 10,20,00,000 102.00
B. Other equity (refer note 20):
Particulars Reserves & Surplus Cap::al contribution from | Other comprehensive Total
Retained Earnings olding Company Income (OCI)

As at April 01, 2023 (123.66) 31.42 0.72 (91.52)
Profit for the year 7.84 - - 7.84
Other comprehensive income - - 0.1 0.11
Total comprehensive income 7.84 - 0.83 (83.57)
Share based payments (refer note 48) - (0.086) - (0.06)
As at March 31, 2024 (115.82) 31.36 0.83 (83.63)
Profit for the year 14.87 - S 14.87
Other comprehensive income - - (0.42) (0.42)
Total comprehensive income 14.87 - (0.42) 14.45
Share based payments (refer note 48) - 0.50 - 0.50
Recharge by Holding Company - (0.50) B (0.50)
As at March 31, 2025 (100.95) 31.36 0.41 (69.18)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements
As per our report of even date
For S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited
ICAI Firm Registration No: 101049W/E300004 %/ \9/

‘M Anchi ar P Ganesh
per Govind ARuja Director Director

Partner
Membership No: 048966

DIN 08351358

suffévan lyer

Cgfipany Secretary
ACS M.No. A54536

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 13, 2025

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 13, 2025

DIN 07202923

GoparAgiwal
Chief Financial Officer

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 13, 2025




FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited
(Amounts in ¥ crore, unless stated otherwise)

Netes to Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2025
1 Corporate Information
FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited (hereinafter referred as the 'Company’) (CIN-UT4120MH2015PTC262096) is a private limited Company incorporated and domiciled in India. The Company is a
whoally owned subsidiary of FSN E-Commerce Ventures Limited (formerly known as FSN E-Commerce Venturas Private Limited). The registared office of the Company is located at A-1,135 Shah and
Mahar Industrial Estate, Sitaram Jadhav Marg, Lower Parel, Delisle Road, Mumbai City MH 400013,

The Company is engaged in the business of import, purchase, salling and distribution of beauty and weliness, personal care, health care, skin care, hair care and other related products through ratail
outlets, general trade and modemn trada.

The financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2025 ware approved by the Board of Directors for issue on May 13, 2025,
2 Material Accounting policies
2A Basis of preparation

i) Statement of compliance

Thesa financial have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (referred to as “Ind AS"), as prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the
“Act) read with Rule 3 of the Companies (Indian A ing Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended from time to time) and presentation requirements of Division |l of Schedule Il to the
Companies Act, 2013, (Ind AS compliant Schedule |1, as amended).

ii) Historical cost convention
The financial statements have been prepared on a histarical cost basis, except for the following:
a) certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) are measured at fair value

b) defined benafit plans
c) equity settled ESOP at grant date fair value

iii) New and ded dards by the Comg
These fi ial have been prep in with Indian Accounting Standards (referred to as “Ind AS"), as p i under Saction 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the
“Act) read with Rule 3 of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended from time to time) and presentation requirements of Division || of Schedule |l to the
Companies Act, 2013, (Ind AS iant Schedule |l as ded).

iv) New and amended standards issued but not effective
There are no standards that are notified and not yet effective as on the date.
3 Summary of material accounting policies
a) Current versus non-current classification
The Company segregates assets and liabilities into current and non-current garies for p ion in the bal; sheat after idering its normal operating cycle and other criteria set out in

Ind AS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements”. For this purpose, current assets and liabilities include the current portion of non-currant assets and liabilities respectively. Defared tax assets and
liabiliies are always classified as non-current

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for p ing and their ization in cash and cash equivalents, The Company has identified period up to twelve months as its
operating cycle,

b) Property plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and acc P losses, if any. The cost comprises p price, ing costs if capitalisation
criteria are met and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for the intended use. Any trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the purchase prica,

Subsequent expenditure related to an item of Property, plant and equipment is included in asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate only when it is probable that
future i fated with the item will flow to the Company and cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged o the Statement of Profit
and Loss for the period during which they are incurred. The prasent value of the exp i cost for the issioning of an asset after its use is includad in the cost of the respective assat if tha
recognition criteria for a provision are met,

Cost incurred on property, plant and equipment not ready for their intended use is disclosed as Capital Work-in-Progress and is stated at cost, net of accumulated impairment loss, if any. Advances
paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding at each balance shest date are classified as capital advances under ather non-current assats.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal, Gains

or losses arising from derecognition of property, plant and equipment are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceads and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in
the Statement of Profit and Loss when the asset is derscognised.

Depreciation on Property, Plant & Equipment
Depreciation is provided using the Straight-Line Method based on useful lives of the assets prescribed in Schedule |l to the Companies Act, 2013,

Estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:

Jseful lives (in

o1
o1
Period of pri |ease




FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited
(Amounts in ¥ crore, unless stated otherwise)

Notes to Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2025

The assats' residual values, useful lives and of depreciation are revi d at each reporting period and adjusted prospectively for any change in estimate, if appropriate. Changes in
axpected useful lives are treated as change in accounting estimate.
c) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost The useful lives of i gible assets are d as either finita

Following initial recognitien, intangible assets with finite lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and lated impairment losses, if any. Intemally generated intangible assets,
excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is reflected in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred,

Intangible assats with finite lives are amortised over the useful econamic life and i for i i W there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattemn
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates,
The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss unless such expenditure forms part of carrying value of ancther asset.

An intangible asset is derecognised upen disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as sither finite

Following initial recognition, intangible assets with finite lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any. intangible assets,
axcluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is reflected in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the year in which the expanchmra is |ncurred

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful sconomic life and assessed for impairment whenever thera is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewad at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expectad pattam
of consumption of future economic banefits embodiad in the asset are considered to modify the isation period or method, as appropriate. and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.
The amartisation expense an intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss unless such expenditure forms part of carrying value of another asset.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future ic benefits are axp d from its use or disposal.

Amortization of intangible assets

Intangible assats are amortized on straight line basis as per the following useful lives:

Intangible asset Useful lives (in years)
Business application development (Internally generated 3

Softwares 3

R h and d t costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditure on an individual project are recognised as an intangible asset when the Company can demonstrate:

a) The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset sa that the asset will be available for use or sale
b) Its intention to complete and its ability and Imsmnnn to use or sell the asset

€) How the assat will g future

d) The availability of resources to complete the assat

g} The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during developmant

Following initial gnition of the d it diture as an asset, the asset is camed at cost less any accumulated isation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset
begins whsn development is complete and the assei is available for use, It is amortised over the period of expected future benefit. Amortisation expense is recognised in the Statement of Profit and
Loss unless such expenditure forms part of camrying value of another asset, During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment annually.

d) Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of assets are reviewad at each balance sheet date. If there is any indication of impairment based on internal / external factors, an impairment loss is recognisad, i e wheraver
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of the assets net fair value and value in use, Recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from ather assets or Company's assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or Cash
Generating Unit (CGL) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. After impairment, depreciation is provided on the ravised carrying amount of the asset over its remaining useful life.

The Ci y bases its | i lculation on most recent budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared for the Company's CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated Thess

budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses are recegnised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists,
the Company estimates the asset's or CGU's recoverable amount. A previously recognised impai loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the
asset’s recoverable amount since the last lrnpalrrnenl loss was l‘ecoqnlsed The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the
carrying amount that would have been d 1ed, net of dep ion, had no i i loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss unless the assetis carried at a revalued amount. in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase,




FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited
{Amounts in ¥ crore, unless stated otherwisa)

Notes to Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2025
e} Inventories
Inventories ara valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

Traded goods: Cost includes cost of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is determined on first in, first out basis first in, first out

basis,

Net i value is the esti d selling price in the ordinary course of busi lass esti d costs of p 11 y to make the sale.

An ¥ provision is recogni for cases where the net realisable value is estimated to be lower than the inventory carrying value. The net realisable value is estimated taking into account
various factors, including obsol e of rial due to design change, unserviceable items i.e. items which cannot be used due to deterioration in quality or due to shelf life or damaged in storage

and ageing of matenal i.e. slow moving/non-moving inventory.

f) Leases
The Company at contract inceplion whather a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
axchange for consideration.

Col ny as a H

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of | alue assets. The Company ises lease liabilities to make
leasa payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the undarlying assats.

i} Right-of-use assets (ROU Assat)

The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any r of lease liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabiliies recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incantives received,

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the primary lease term

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term or the cost reflacts the exercise of a purchase option, dep ion is using the esti usaful

life of the assat.
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting poficies in section (e} Impairment of non-financial assets.
i} Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabiiities measured at the present value of lease paymants to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed pay {including i k 1ce fixed less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under resi value The leasa | also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be ised by the Company and pay of panaities
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
axpenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventaries) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its al borrowing rate at the lease ement date t the i rate implicit in the leasa is not
readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of |ease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interast and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities 15 remeasured if there is a modificaion, a change in the lease term, a change in the |ease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate used to determine such lease paymants) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

iii) Short-term leases and leases of low value assets:

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short- term leases of property (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not centain a purchase option). it also applies the |ease of low-value assets recognition examption to |eases where the underlying asset is considered to be low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

g) Financial Instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another antity.

1) Initial gnition and

All Financial asseis and liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other prahensive income (OCI), and fair value through

profit or loss.

Einancial Assets

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics and the Company's business model for managing them, With the
of trade ivables that do not contain a signi 1t financing or for which the Company has applied the practical expedi the Company initially a fi ial

assai at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs,

Trade recaivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical axpadient are measured at the tr ion price as di in
section (h(l)) Revenue from contracts with customers.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give nse to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest
(SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assassmant is refered to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.




FSN Brands Marketing Private Limited
(Amounts in ¥ crore, unless stated otherwise)

Notes to Financial Statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2025

The Company’s business modsa! for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through OCI| are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the
trade date, i.e., the date that the Company commits to purchasa or sell the asset.

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and b ings, pay , or as
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

1 as hedging

i1} Subsequent measurement
i) Financial assets
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:
a) Financial assefs at amortised cost (debt instruments)
b) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)
c) Financial assets designated at fair value through QCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity instruments)
Financial assets at fair value though profit or loss
Financial assets at amortised cost {debt instrumants)

A ‘financial asset' is measured at the amortised cost if both the following conditions are mat:

d) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting contractual cash flows, and
b) Contractual terms of the assat give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest {(SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at isad cost are sub ly measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified, or impaired,

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) (debt instruments)
A ‘financial asset’ is classified as at the FVTOCI if both of the following criteria are met:

a) The objective of the busi model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets, and
b) The asset's contractual cash flows represent SPPI.

Debt instruments included within the FVTOCI category are measured initially as well as at each reporting date at fair value. For debt instruments, at fair value through OC!, interast income,
foreign exchange fion and | i losses or ray Is are recognised in the profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCl. Upon d ition, the cumulativa fair value ges recognised in OC| is reclassified from the equity to profit or loss.

Fil ial Assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Company can elect to classify i ly its equity i its as equity inst it i d at fair value through OC| when they meet the definition of
equity under Ind AS 32 Financial Instruments; Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is di ined on an instrument-by-i 1t basis. Gains and losses on thase
financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in the Statement of Profit and Loss when the right of pay t has been blished, except
when the Company benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OC|. Equity instruments designated at fair
value through OCI are not subject to i i it. The Company elected to classify irrevocably its non- listed equity investments under this category,

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL})

Financial assets are measurad at fair value through profit or loss unless it measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income on initial recognition. The
transaction cost directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are i diately recognised in the of Profit and Loss.

i) Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through Profit or Loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities hald for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss

Fi liabilities desig upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated as such at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind AS 109 are
satisfied. For liabilines designated as FVTFL, fair value gains/ losses attributable to changes in own credit risk are recognized in OCI. These gains/ losses are not subsequently transferred to
P&L. However, the Company may transfar the cumulative gain or loss within equity. All other changes in fair value of such liability are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods, The carrying amounts of financial liabilities that are sub quently measured at amortised
cost are determined based on the effective interest method,

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is tha
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (whare appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Company's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including bank , and derivative financial inst it

Il) Deracognition Financial Assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Company of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Company's statement of
financial position) when;

+ The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or
+ The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party undar a
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either

(a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference batween the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consi i i and ivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in squity is recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss if such gain or loss would have otherwise been racognised in
Statement of Profit and Loss on disposal of that financial asset.

Financial Liabilities

A financial liability is deracognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or axpires. When an existing ial liability is raplaced by anather from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derscognition of the original liability and the
racognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

V) Impairment of financial assets

In accordance with Ind AS 109, the Company applies simplified expected credit loss (ECL) model for measurameant and gnition of i for trade ivables or any contractual right to
receive cash or another financial asset that result from transactions that are within the scope of Ind-AS 115 and do not contain significant financing companents,

The C: applies g | h for recognition of expected credit losses on all other financial assets.

The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortised cost and FVTOC debt instruments. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reascnable expectation of recovery.

V) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reperted in the balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultanecusly.

Vi) ification of fi ial instr

The Company determines classification of financial assets and liabilities on initial recognition. After initial recognition, no reclassification is made for financial assets which are squity instruments
and financial liabilities. For financial assets which are debt i its, a reclassification is made only if there is a change in the business mode! for managing those assets. Changes to the
business model are axpected to be infrequent The Company's senior management determines change in the business model as a result of external or internal changes which are significant to
the Company's operations. Such changes are avident to external parties. A change in the buslnass model occurs when the Company either begins or ceases to perform an activity that is
significant to its operations. If the Company reclassifies financial asssts, it applies the pectively from the reclassification date which is the first day of the immediately next
reporting period following the change in business model, The Company doas not restate any prwmusly recogrused gains, losses (including impairment gains or losses) or interest.

Original classification Revised classification

(Amortised cost FVTPL Fair value is measured at reclassification date, Difference between previous amortized cost and fair value is recognised in profit
or loss.

[FVTRL Amortised Cost Fair value at reclassification date becomes its new gross carrying amount. EIR is calculated based on the new gross camying
[amount.

Amortised cost [FvTOC Fair value is measured at reclassification date. Difference between previous amortised cost and fair value is recognised in OCI. No
change in EIR due to reclassification.

FVTOCIH Amortised cost Fair value at reclassification date b its new amortised cost carrying amount. However, cumulative gain or loss in OCI is|
adjusted against fair value, Consequently, the assetis measured as if it had always been measured at amortised cost.

FVTPL FVTOCI Fair valua at reclassification date becomes its new carrying amount. No other adjustment is required.

FVTOCI FVTPL Assets continue to be measured at fair value. Cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss the reclassification date.
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h} Revenue recognition

I} R from tracts with

Revenue from cantracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferrad to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration ta which an entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer,

R i ion of a perfarmance obligation is measurad at the amount of transaction price (net of variable consideration) allocated to that per bligation The tr
price of goods seld, and services rendered is net of variable mnsndaralmn on aceount of discounts offered by the Company as part of the contract. This variabi ideration is
based on the expected value of outflow. Revenue (net of variabl ion) is recognisad only to the extent that it is highly probabie that the amount will not be subject to significant reversal

when uncertainty ralating to its recognition is resolved.

The Company identifies the performance obligations in its contracts with customers and recognises revenue as and when the performance
criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised,

igations are satisfied. The specific

i) Sale of products

Revenue is recognised upon transfer of cantrol of promised goods to customer in an amount that reflects the consideration which the Company expects to receive in exchange for goods.
Revenue from the sale of products is recognised when products are deliverad to customer. Revenus is maasurad based on the transaction price, which is the consideration, adjusted for
volume discounts, rebates, scheme allowances, price concessions, incentives, and returns, if any, as specified in the with the cust

Contracts where the C ‘s obligation is to for the provision of goods and services by another party, the Company recognizes revenue in the amount of the commission to which
it axpacts to be entitied in exchange for arranging for the provision of goods and services.

Revenue excludes taxes collected from customers on behalf of the govemment. Accruals for discountsfincentives and retums are estimated (using the most likely method) based on
cperience and underdying and with ¢ s. Due to the short nature of credit period given to customers, thera is no financing component in the

contract.

il) Rendering of services

Income from services is recognised as and when the services are rendered.

- R
a9 Lol o .

The Company gni marketing income i.2, visibility services provided by the Company to various brands at retail outlets of the Company. Revenue from advertisement services is
d when adverti is displayed.

Revenue from sale of online i is recagnised based on output method and the Company applies the practical expedient to recognize advertising revenue in the amount to which

the Company has a right to invoice upon rendering of sarvices
iii) Contract balances
Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to ideration in exch for prod or services transferred to the customer. If the Company performs by transferring products or services to a customer
before the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the eamad consideration that is conditional,

Trade receivables
A receivable reprasents the Company's right to an amount of consideration that is uncenditional (i.e., only the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer
to accounting policies of financial assets in section - Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obiligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Comg has ived consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If
a customer pays consideration before the Company transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is dus
(whichavaer is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Company performs under the contract.

1) Provisions

A provision is recog when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating to a provision is prasented in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

If the affect of the time value of money is i isions are di d using a current pre-tax rate that refiects, whan appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the
in the provision dua to the ge of hme is recognized as a finance cost.

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.

J) Foreign y F and

currency

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (Rs.), which is the functional cumency of the Company and the cumrency of the primary sconomic envirenment in which the Company
operates

i} Initial recognition

Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the reporting currency, by applying to the foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the reporting currency and the foraign currency at
the data of the transaction.

i} Conversion
Foreign currency monatary items are retranslated using the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date. Mon-manetary items, which are measurad in terms of historical cost denominated in a

forsign currency, are repoarted using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction, Non-monetary items, which are measured at fair value or ather similar valuation denominated in a forsign
currency, ara translated using the exchange rate at the date when such value was determined.
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iii) Exchange differences

Exchange differences arising on seftiement or translation of other monetary items or on reporting monatary items at rates different from those at which they were initially recorded during the
periodlyear, or reported in pravi financial its, are gnised as income or as expenses in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the period/year in which they arise.

k) Share based payments

ploy of the Company recelve remt ion in the form of share-based wharaby amploy render services as consideration for equity ir of FSN E-Ce Ventures
Private Limited (the holding Company). These shares vest equally over a period of 3 - 4 years. The Company does not have an obligation to sattle the tr ion with its employees. Therefore, the
Company accounts for the transaction with its employees as equity settied and recognizes a coresponding increase in equity as contribution from Parent. The share-based payment expenses is
recharged to the Company, which is adjusted against capital contribution by holding C

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the data when the grant is made using an appropriate valuation model. That cost is recognised, logsthar with a corresponding
Increase in contribution by parent in equity, over the period in which the performance andier service conditions are fulfilled in employee benafits The cL recognised for
equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting pericd has expired and the Company’s best estmate of \‘he number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The expense or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period and is recognised in

employee benefits expanse.

When the terms of an equity-settied award are modified, the mini re ized |s the expense had the terms had not been modified, If the ariginal terms of the award are met. An
additional expense is recognized for any modification that increases the mtal fair valug nf the shara-based payment transaction or is otherwi: | to the emp as measured at the date of
modification. Where an award is cancelled by the entity or by the counterparty, any remaining element of the fair value of the award is expensed immediately through profit or loss.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share,

I} Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits
All short term employ its such as salaries, incentives, medical benefits which are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the and of the period in which the employee renders the
ralated services which entitles him to avail such b are ani on an i d basis and charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss.
Post-employment benefits

i} Defined Contribution Plans

Retiremeant benefit in the form of Provi Fund is a defined tribution schame and the contributions are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss of the period/year when the contribution
to the funds is due. There are no other obligations other than the contribution payable to the fund. The Company i contribution to the provident fund scheme as expenditure,
when an employee renders the related service.

ii) Defined Benefit Plans

Gratuity
The Company have an obii ds gratuity. a defined benefit plan covering eligible employaes, The plan p for a lump-sum pay t to vested employ at reti 1t, death while
in employment or on ination of ! nt of an amount aquivalent to 15 days salary payable for each completed year of service. Vesting occurs upon completion of five years of service.

The gratuity benafits are unfunded,

Gratuity liability is provided for on the basis of an actuarial valuation on projected unit credit method made at the end of sach fi ial period/year, The p value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on govemment bonds that have terms approximating
to the terms of the related cbligation.

Net interast is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability. The Company recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation as an expanse in
the Statemant of Profit and Loss:

- Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-roufine settiements ; and
- Net interest expense or income

Re-meas : ising of ial gains and losses, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability, are recognised immediately in the balance sheet with
a corresponding debit or credit to ined eamings through 'Other P ive income’ in the period in which they occur. Re- s are not reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods.

Compensated absences

The Company providas for the encashment of leave or leave with pay subject to certain rules. The employees are entitled to accumulate Ieava subject to certain limits, for future ancashment.
The liability is provided based cn lhe number of days of unutilised leave at each balance sheet date on the basis of an P it luati uslng the projacted unit credit method at
the reporting date. Actuar are i taken to the Statement of Profit and Loss and are not deferred. The oblig: are pr d as current liabilities in the balance shest
if the entity does not have an uru:mmlmnal right to defer the settiement for at least 12 months after the reporting date, regardless of when the actual settiement.

m) Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, The fair valus measurament
is based on the p tion that the tr ion to sall the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

= In the principal market for the asset or liability - or
= In the absence of a principal market. in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest,
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A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by salling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the ci 1cas and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurament as a whole

+ Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
» Level 2 — Valuation technigues for which the lowast level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is clracﬂy or |nd1re=lly observable
+ Level 3 — Valuation technigues for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value meast is vable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company determines whaether transfers have occurred 1 levels in the hi y by re-
assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting peried. The management assessead that cash and
cash equi its, trade receivables, advances, trade pay . bank and othar ial liabilities approxil their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has d ined cl of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the
fair value hierarchy as explained abova.

Income taxes

Tax expense current and tax.

Current income tax
Current income-tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax authorities in accordance with the Income-tax Act, 1961 enacted in India.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary diff t the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their camrying amounts for financial reperting purposes at the reporting
date,

+ Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except

+ When the daeferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

+ Defered tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of any unused tax losses. Deferrad tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax losses can be utilized, except

+ When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probatle that future taxable profits
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recoverad,

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceabla right exists to set-off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Current tax and defarred tax are measured using the tax rates and tax laws  or s ivaly at the reporting date. Current income tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized
outside profit and Ioss is recognized outside profit and loss (either in OCI or in equity). The Company perodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and considers whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, The

Company reflect the effect of uncertainty for each uncertain tax treatment by using either most likely method or expected value methad, depending on which predicts better resolution of the
treatment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, and other short term highly liquid
investments which ara subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considerad an
integral part of the Company's cash manag, it

Contingent Liabilities

A i 1t liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-cccurrence of one or more uncertain fulure events beyond the
contrel of the Company or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that an cutflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, A contingent liability also arises in
extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be measured reliably. The Company does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence

and other disclosures in the notes to the financial statements unless the possibility of any cutflow in settlement is remote,

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the
period. The weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period is adjusted for events such as bonus issue, bonus element in a rights issue, share split, and reverse share spiit

(consolidation of shares) that have changed the number of equity shares ot g, without a ¢ ponding ge in

For the purpose of calculating diluted eamings per share the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted ge number of shares outstanding during the
period are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares, except where the result would be anti-dilutive.
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r} Segment reporting policies

The Company is engaged in the business of import, purchase, selling and distribution of beauty and wellness, parsonal care, haalth care, skin care, hair care and other related products through retail
outiets, genaral trade and modemn trade. The Company's business activity falls within a single primary business segment, e, Beauty, Accordingly, disclosures as required under IND AS 108,
Segment Reporting, have not been separately presented in the financial statements since the information is available directly from the Statement of Profit and Loss. The Company has identified
Board of Directors as Chief Operating Decision Maker ('CODM') who reviews and allocates resources based on "Business Segments”.

4 Significant g judg ti and pti
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires the mar it to make jud i and assumptions that affect the reportad amounts of revenuss, expenses,
assets and liabilities and the ying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, ai the end of the reporting peried. Such judgments, and iated assump are
' d based on histori peari and various other factors, including estimation of the effects of uncertain future events, which are bslleveﬂ to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual
results may differ from these esti The esti and ur a ptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the

estimate is revised if the revision affacts only that period or in the pannd of the revision and future pericds if the revision affects both current and future periods,

Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in cutcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

The following are the critical judgements and estimations that have been made by the management in the process of applying the Comp y's ing policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amount recognised in the financial statements and/or key sources of astimation uncertainty that may have a signi 1t risk of inga ial adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

1} Judgements:

Determining the lease term of contracts with and terminati i —the Company as lessee

The Company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, togather with any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it |s raasonably certain to be exercised, or any

periods covered by an option to terminate the leasa, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. It considers all relevant factors that create an i ive for it to ise aither the renewal
or termination.
Il) Esti and pti

a)  Estimation of useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assst

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets represent a significant proportion of the asset base of the Company. The charge in respect of pericdic depreciation is derived after
determining an estimate of an asset's axpscmd useful life and the expected residual value at the end of its life. The useful lives and residual values of assets are determined by management at
the time the asset is acquired and reviewed periodically, including at each financial period/year end. The lives are based on historical experience with similar assats.

b) Fair Value ment of fi ial instr

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheat cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using

luation techniques including the discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of
judgement is required in ishing fair values. Judc include iderations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could
affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

c) Esti ion of defined benefit and p 1 ak

The cost of the defined benefit gratuity plan, compensated absences and the present value of the gratuity obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves
making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases and mortality rates. All
assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. in determining the appmpnale discount rate for plans cperated in India, the managemant considers the interest rates of government
bends in currencies consistent with the currencies of the post-employ benefit ion. Future salary increases are based on expected future inflation rates, The mortality rate is based on
publicly available mortality tables for the country. Those mnrtamy tables tend to change only at interval in response to demographic changes.

d} Income taxes

Significant judgments are involved in ining the provision for income taxes including j on whather tax positi are probable of being sustained in tax s, A tax
assassment can involve complex issues, which can only be resolved over extended time periods.

e) Deferred Taxes

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised, In assassing the
probability the Company considers whether the entity has sufficient taxable temporary differences relating to the same taxation mm::nty and the same taxable ennly. which will resun in taxable

amounts against which the unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised before they expire. Significant bs] jud is reg to d tha of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profils together with future tax planning mtﬂgles The Company has recognised deferred tax assats
on the unused tax losses and other deductibl p y diffi since the it is of the view that it is probable the deferred tax assets will be ble using the esti

future taxable income based on the approved business plans and budgets.

f)  Provision

Provisions and liabilities are recognized in the period when it becomes probable that there will be a future outflow of funds resulting from past operations or events and the amount of cash
outflow can be reliably estimated. The timing of recognition and quantification of the liability require the application of judgement to existing facts and circumstances, which can be subject to
change. The carrying amounts of provisions and liabilities are raviewed regularly and adjusted to take account of changing facts and ci ces,

gl Impairment of financial assets

The impairment provisions for financial assets depending on their classification are based on assumptions about risk of default, expected cash loss rates, discounting rates applied to these
forecasted future cash flows, recent i and independent valuer's report. The Company uses judgement in making these assumptions and salecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on Company's past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period,

\\7 a\"“)
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Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets

The Company uses a simplified approach to determine impairment loss allowance on the portfolio of trade receivables. This is based on its historically observed default rates over the expected
life of the trade receivable and is adjusted for forward looking esti - At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analyzed. The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs s a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circl and of economic conditions, The Company's historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may not be representative of customer's
actual default in the futura,

Leases — Estimating tha incremental borrowing rates

The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilties. The I1BR is the rate of intarest that
the Company would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar aconomic
environment. The IER therefore reflects what the Company ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjustad to reflect the
terms and conditions of the leasa,

The Company estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the Company's credit
rating).

Other estimates

The share-based compensation expense is determined based on the Company'’s estimate of equity ir that will eventually vest.
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Note 4
Property, plant and equipment

. Computers & Furniture & Office Plant & Leasehold
Pitiouins Equipments Fixtures Equipments Machinery improvements e
Gross Carrying Amount
As at April 01, 2023 1.52 55.90 5.87 0.04 36.60 99.93
Additions 1.61 13.46 2.64 - 10.45 28.16
Disposals - - - - - -
As at March 31, 2024 3.13 69.36 8.51 0.04 47.05 128.09
Additions 0.23 19.35 7.77 - 16.50 43.85
Disposals (0.15) (9.88) (1.21) - (7.41) (18.65)
As at March 31, 2025 3.21 78.83 15.07 0.04 56.14 153.29
Accumulated depreciation
As at April 01, 2023 0.85 19.35 1.78 0.02 17.16 39.16
Depreciation charge for the year 0.61 7.90 0.64 0.00* 10.40 19.55
Disposals - - - - - -
As at March 31, 2024 1.46 27.25 2.42 0.02 27.56 58.71
Depreciation charge for the year 0.61 8.72 2.01 0.01 12.80 2415
Disposals (0.11) (9.11) (0.89) = (5.74) (15.85)
As at March 31, 2025 1.96 26.86 3.54 0.03 34.62 67.01
Net Carrying Amount
As at March 31, 2025 1.25 51.97 11.53 0.01 21.52 86.28
As at March 31, 2024 1.67 42.11 6.09 0.02 19.49 69.38
*Less than % 0.01 crore
Notes:
1. Movable assets have been pledged to secure borrowings of the Company (Refer Note - 21 and 24)
2. Refer note 43 for capital commitments.
Note 5
Capital work-in-progress
Particulars Amount
As at April 01, 2023 2.02
Addition 18.96
Capitalisation (18.81)
As at March 31, 2024 217
Addition 41.89
Capitalisation (43.70)
As at March 31, 2025 0.35
Capital Work-in-progress ageing schedule:
—— Amount lying in capital work-in-progress for a period of

Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total

As at March 31, 2025 0.35 - - - 0.35
As at March 31, 2024 217 - - - 217
Notes:

1) Capital work-in-progress comprises of expenses incurred towards improvement of leasehold premises.
2) There are no overdue or cost overrun projects compared to its original plan and no projects which are temporarily suspended, on the above-mentioned

reporting dates.
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Note 6
Intangible assets
Particulars B;sel:;:z:‘pe:?iﬁ‘:n Computer Softwares Total
Gross Carrying Amount
As at April 01, 2023 1.74 0.38 212
Additions 1.75 . 1.75
Disposals - > ;
As at March 31, 2024 3.49 0.38 3.87
Additions = % E
Disposals - - -
As at March 31, 2025 3.49 0.38 3.87
Accumulated amortisation
As at April 01, 2023 1.21 0.33 1.54
Amortisation charge for the year 0.83 0.00" 0.83
Disposals - - -
As at March 31, 2024 2.04 0.33 2.37
Amortisation charge for the year 0.85 0.00* 0.85
Disposals - - -
As at March 31, 2025 2.89 0.33 3.22
Net Carrying Amount
As at March 31, 2025 0.60 0.05 0.65
As at March 31, 2024 1.45 0.05 1.50
*Less than % 0.01 crore
Refer Note 43 for capital commitments.
Note 7
Right of Use Assets
Particulars Buidling
Gross Carrying Amount
As at April 01, 2023 277.88
Additions 47.52
Disposals (24.84)
As at March 31, 2024 300.56
Additions 138.48
Disposals (37.17)
As at March 31, 2025 401.87
Accumulated depreciation
As at April 01, 2023 108.58
Depreciation charge for the year 63.44
Disposals (20.26)
As at March 31, 2024 151.76
Depreciation charge for the year 80.90
Disposals (26.75)
As at March 31, 2025 205.91
Net Carrying Amount
As at March 31, 2025 195.96
As at March 31, 2024 148.80
Note: Disposals include derecognition of ROU asset on cancellation of lease contract.
Note 8
Intangible assets under development ('lAUD")
Particulars Amount
As at April 01, 2023 1.51
Addition 0.24
Capitalisation (1.75)
As at March 31, 2024 0.00
Addition 0,03
Capitalisation =
As at March 31, 2025 0.03
Intangible assets under development (IAUD) ageing schedule :
Petiod in progress Amount of IAUD for the period of

0-1 years 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total
As at March 31, 2025 0.03 - - - 0.03
As at March 31, 2024 E - 5 - =

1. Intangible assets under development consists of business application development.

2. There are no overdue or cost overrun projects compares to its original plan and no projects which are temporarily suspended, on the above-mentioned reporting dates.
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Note 9
Non-current investments (unquoted)

Particulars

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Investments in fellow subsidiary (Unquoted, fully paid up)
Investments in Equity shares (at cost)

Nykaa Foundation 0.00" 0.00"
1 fully paid equity share of ¥ 10 each (March 31, 2024: 1 share of ¥ 10 each)

Nykaa Fashion Limited 0.00* 0.007
1 fully paid equity shares of ¥ 10 each (March 31, 2024: 1 share of ¥ 10 each)

Category-wise investment

Measured at Cost 0.00" 0.00"
Measured at FVTOCI = 4
Total Investment 0.00* 0.00*
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 0.00" 0.00*

|Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments
*Less than % 0.01 crore

Note 10
Other financial assets (non-current)

Particulars

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Measured at amortised cost

Security deposits (unsecured, considered good) 37.81 30.00
Total 37.81 30.00
Note 11

{A) Income tax:
(a) The major components of income tax expense / (credit) are:

(1) Income tax expense reported in the Statement of Profit and Loss

For the year ended

For the year ended

Pastculs March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Current tax:

In respect of current year 1.02 -

In respect of prior year - -
Deferred tax:

In respect of current year 5.51 4.05
Income tax expense reported in the Statement of Profit or Loss 6.53 4.05

2) OCl section - Deferred tax related to items recognised in OCI during the year

For the year ended

For the year ended

- March 31,2025 | March 31, 2024
Tax benefit /(expense) on remeasurements of defined benefit plans 0.14 (0.03)
Income tax expense credited/ (charged) to OCI 0.14 (0.03)
(b) Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by India’s domestic tax rate for March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024:
Paiticilars ’ For the year ended | For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Profit before tax 21.40 11.89
Applicable tax rate 2517% 25.17%
Tax using the Company's domestic tax rate 5.39 2,99
Tax effect of:
Intererst on borrowing 0.46 0.88
Others (mainly includes permanent differences) 0.68 0.18
Total Tax 6.53 4.05
Income tax expenses as per Statement of Profit and Loss
Current tax expense 1.02 -
Deferred tax expense 551 4.05
Tax expense recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss 6.53 4.05
Effective tax rate 30.52% 34.09%
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(B) Deferred tax:

Particulars

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Deferred tax assets arising on account of

Expenditure charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss in the current year but allowed for tax purposes on payment basis 0.79 0.49
Brought forward losses - 10.96
Allowance for expected credit losses 0.1 0.39
Lease related liabilities 53.02 41.57
Timing difference between book depreciation and depreciation as per the Income-tax Act, 1961 972 9.81
Others 10.24 4.96
Deferred tax liability arising on account of
Depreciation on Right of use assets (48.52) (37.45)
Deferred tax assets (net) 25.36 30.73
Reconciliation of deferred tax assets (net):
As at As at
Partiamans March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Opening balance 30.73 34.81
Tax (expense) recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss for the year (5.51) (4.05)
Tax benefit / (expense) recognised in OCI for the year 0.14 (0.03)
Closing balance 25.36 30.73
Note 12
Other non current assets
. As at As at
— March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Advance for capital goods 0.58 2.97
Balance with statutory / government authorities 0.14 -
Total 0.72 2.97
Note 13
Inventories (valued at lower of cost or net realisable value)
Particulars g A o
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Stock in trade * 448.75 321.56
Packing material 3.83 2.58
Total 452.58 324.14
Provision for inventories taking into account various factors, including obsolescence of material, unserviceable items and 28.27 19.52
ageing of material
* The inventories include goods in transit : As at March 31, 2025 ¥ 49.16 crore ( March 31, 2024 : ¥ 27.18 crore)
Note 14
Trade receivables
Particulars A s
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Trade receivables - unsecured, considered good 28.31 17.74
Trade receivables - credit impaired 0.43 0.48
Gross Trade receivable 28.74 18.22
Less: allowances for expected credit loss (Refer note 46) (0.43) (0.48)
Total 28.11 17.74
Trade receivable ageing schedule (gross)
As at March 31, 2025
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment To
Particulars Current hng Less than6 |6 rm:mt:s -1 s -~ =
not due 1-2 year 2-3 year More than 3 year
months year
Undisputed Trade Receivables —unsecured, 13.37 14.94 - - - - 28.31
considered good
Undisputed Trade Receivables - credit # - 0.01 0.19 0.13 0.10 0.43
impaired
Total 13.37 14.94 0.01 0.19 0.13 0.10 28.74

N
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As at March 31, 2024

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment Total
Particulars Cureand bk Less than 6 |6 months - 1
not due 1-2 year 2-3 year More than 3 year
months year
Undisputed Trade Receivables — unsecured, 11.28 6.46 0.00 0.00* 0.00 B 17.74
considered good
Undisputed Trade Receivables - credit - 0.01 0.24 0.13 0.10 0.00* 0.48
impaired
Total 11.28 6.47 0.24 0.13 0.10 0.00* 18.22
Notes:
For details of trade receivable with related party refer note 42 related party disclosures.
*Less than % 0.01 crore
Note 15
Cash and cash equivalents
Particulars As m Ax
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Balances with banks in current accounts 4.45 1.81
Total 4.45 1.81
Note 16
Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents
Particulars £ at Asat
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Margin money deposits with banks - 0.26
Deposits with original maturity for more than three months but less than twelve months 0.01 -
Total 0.01 0.26
Note 17
Other financial assets (current)
As at As at

Particulars

March 31, 2025

March 31, 2024

Measured at amortised cost
Security deposits (unsecured)

Considered good 20.43 10.45

Credit impaired 0.76 1.08
Less: Allowances for expected credit loss (Refer note 46) (0.76) (1.08)
Unbilled receivable 471 7.66
Receivable from cash collection vendors 3.95 3.87
Current maturity of deposits with Banks with original maturity period more than 12 months* 3.29 0.29
Interest accrued on deposit but not due 0.12 0.01
Other receivables 2.19 -
Measured at FVTPL
Mark-to-market derivative instrument - 0.02
Total 34.69 22.30
*Includes lien amounting ¥ 1.30 crore (March 31, 2024: ¥ 0.1 crore)
Movement in Interest accrued on deposits but not due:

As at As at
Particulars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Opening balance 0.01 0.01
Interest income 0.13 0.03
Interest received (0.02) (0.03)
Closing balance 0.12 0.01
Note 18
Other current assets
; As at As at

Particulars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Advance to suppliers (unsecured, considered good) 5.50 8.67
Prepaid expenses 2.80 1.67
Balance with statutory / government authorities 58.97 44.73
Total 67.27 55.07
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Note 19
Equity Share Capital
i) Authorised Share Capital

Equity Shares
Pl Numbers Amount
As at April 01, 2023 (face value ¥ 10 each) 12,50,00,000 125.00
Changes during the year - »
As at March 31, 2024 (face value ¥ 10 each) 12,50,00,000 125.00
Changes during the year - -
|As at March 31, 2025 (face value ¥ 10 each) 12,50,00,000 125.00

i) Terms!/ rights attached to equity shares

The Company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of Z 10 per share, Each holder of equity shares is entitled to one vote per share. The Company declares
and pays dividends in Indian rupees. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting
In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the Company, after distribution of all preferential
amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders Each equity shareholder is entitled to dividends as and when the

Company declares and pays dividend after obtaining shareholders’ approval.

ii) Issued, subscribed and fully paid-up share capital

Equity shares

Paticulete Numbers Amount

As at April 01, 2023 (face value of ¥ 10 each) 10,20,00,000 102.00
Changes during the year - -
As at March 31, 2024 (face value of ¥ 10 each) 10,20,00,000 102.00
Changes during the year E -
As at March 31, 2025 (face value of ¥ 10 each) 10,20,00,000 102.00
iii) Shares held by holding/ ultimate holding Company along with nominee shareholder:

Out of equity shares issued by the Company. shares held by its Holding Company along with nominee shareholder are as below:
|Particulars As at As ot

March 31, 2025 | March 31, 2024

FSN E-Commerce Ventures Limited (Holding Company) 102.00 102.00
10,20,00,000 (March 31, 2024: 10,20,00,000) equity shares of ¥ 10/- each

iv) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

o No. of shares | ‘!% holding No. of shares % holding
FSN E-Commerce Ventures Limited 10,20,00,000* | 100%| 10,20,00,000* 100%

* includes Nominee shares of FSN E-Commerce Ventures Limited held by promoters

As per records of the Company, including its register of shareholders/members and other declarations received from shareholders regarding beneficial interest, the above

shareholding represents both legal and beneficial ownerships of shares.

v) Shares issued for consideration other than cash
No shares have been issued for consideration other than cash during the period of five years immediately preceding the reporting date.

vi) Promoter shareholding

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024 % Change

N of the sharstwider No. of shares % holding No. of shares % holding during the year
FSN E-Commerce Ventures Limited 10,19,99,985 100.00% 10,19,99,985 100% 100.00%
Falguni Nayar* 10 0.00% 10 0.00% 0.00%
Sanjay Nayar* 1 0.00% 1 0.00% 0.00%
Adwaita Nayar* 1 0.00% 1 0.00% 0.00%
Anchit Nayar® 1 0.00% 1 0.00% 0.00%
Anubhav Gupta* 1 0.00% 1 0.00% 0.00%
Sahira Mann* 1 0.00% 1 0.00% 0.00%
* The above mentioned persons are nominee shareholders on behalf of FSN E-Commerce Ventures Limited.
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Note 20
Other equity

|Particulars

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

(i) Retained earnings

Opening balance (115.82) (123.66)
Add: Profit during the year 14.87 7.84

Closing balance (A) {100.95) (115.82)
(ii) Capital Contribution from Holding Company

Opening balance 31.36 31.42

Add : Additons/(Deletions) during the year 0.50 (0.08)
Less . Recharge by Holding Company (0.50) -

Closing balance (B) 31.36 31,36
(iii) Other comprehensive income

Opening balance 0.83 072
Add: (Deletions)/Additions during the year (0.42) 0.1

Closing bal. {C) 0.41 0.83
Total (A+B+C) (69.18) (83.63)

Nature urpose of reserves

(i) Retained earnings: Retained Eamings are the profits / (losses) that the Company has earned/ incurred till date, less any dividends or other distributions paid to

shareholders.

(ii) Other Comprehensive Income: This represents the cumulative gains and losses arising on remeasurement of defined employee benefit plan.

(iii) Contribution from Holding Company consists of:

Share based payments: FSN E-Commerce Ventures Limited, (Holding Company) has extended its stock options program to selected employees of subsidiaries
including the Company. The fair-value of equity-settled transactions; calculated at the date when the grant is made using an appropriate valuation model and
recognized over the period in which the performance and/for service conditions are fulfilled with corresponding increase in equity as contribution from Parent. The
share-based payment expenses is recharged to the Company, which is adjusted against capital contribution by holding Company.

Loan from Holding Company: Fair valuation of loans taken from Holding Company.
Guarantee from Holding Company: Fair value of guarantee given by Holding Company for loans taken from banks.

Note 21
Borrowings (Non Current)
As at As at

[Partcotars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Secured
Term loan from Banks (Refer below note 1 and 3) 47.22 -
Less: Unamortised upfront fees (0.09) .

47.13 -
Unsecured
Loan from holding Company (Refer below note 2,3 and 4) - 94.82
Loan from fellow subsidiary (Refer below note 2,3 and 4) 63.00 -
Total 110.13 94.82
Notes:

(1) Term of loans from Bank
(i) The above loan carries an interest rate ranging from 9.2% to 9.6% pa.

{ii) The above loan is for a period of 3 years and interest rate being charged is 9.2% to 9.3% p.a.(March 31, 2024 : Nil.)

(iii) As at March 31, 2025, ¥ 64.76 crore (March 31, 2024: Nil) of the total outstanding borrowings were secured by a first pari passu charge on current assets and

movable fixed assets (both present and future) and Corporate guarantee given by the holding Company.

(iv) Term Loan (including current maturities) amounting to # 30 crore is repayable in 9 equal quarterly repayments, the next installment is due on July 8, 2025,
{v) Term Loan ({including current maturities) amounting to ¥ 35 crore is repayable in 9 equal quarterly repayments, the next installment is due on October 11, 2025.

(2) Term of loans from Holding Company and its fellow subsidiaries

(i) The above loan carries an interest rate referenced to the government security rate close to the tenor of the loan and mutually agreed spread.

(i) The above loan is for a period of 3 years and interest rate being charged is 9.0% p.a.(March 31, 2024 : 7% to 9.5% p.a.)

(3) Refer note 46 for maturity profile of above loans.
(4) Refer note 42 for Related party transactions.

MNote 22
Lease liabilities (Non Current)
Particulars As at As at

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Payable for lease liabilities (Refer note 40) 134.93 104.19
Total 134.93 104.18
Note 23
Provisions (Non Current)

As at As at

Fanea March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Provision for gratuity (Refer note 41) 1.95 0.97
Total 1.95 0.97
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Note 24
Borrowings (Current)
Particulars A Ao

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Secured
Working capital loan from banks (Refer below note i to v) 155.09 98.17
Current maturity of term loan from bank (Refer below note 21) 17.78 -
Less: Unamortised upfront fees (0.15) -
Net Current maturity of term loan from bank 17.63 5
Unsecured
Current maturity of loan from holding company (refer note vi and vii) - 81.08
Working capital loan from banks (Refer below note i to v) 20.79 28.66
Loan from holding company (refer below note vi and vii) 15.51 66.02
Loan from fellow subsidiary (refer below note vi and vii) 194.03 -
Total 403.05 273.93
Notes:

(i) Working Capital/Cash Credit Facilities from banks are secured by hypothecation of book debts, current assets and movable Property, plant and equipment both
present and future and corporate guarantee of FSN E- Commerce Ventures Limited.

(i} Loan is repayable on demand. Interest payable on working capital loan ranging from 8.5% to 8.7%.

(i) Bank loan contains certain financial covenants and there have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing borrowings

(iv) As at March 31, 2025, the Company had undrawn funded and non-funded borrowing facilities of # 40 crore (March 31, 2024 : 4,99 crore).

(v) Quarterly statements of current assets filed by the Company with banks are in agreement with the books of account.

vi) The loan from holding company and fellow subsidiary carries an interest rate referenced to the government security rate close to the tenor of the loan and
mutually agreed spread and is repayable on demand. The Interest rate being charged is 6% to 7.5 % p.a. (March 31, 2024- 7% to 7.5% p.a.)

{vii) Refer note 42 for related party transactions.

Note 25
Lease liabilities (Current)
As at As at
Particulars
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Payable for lease liabilities (Refer note 40) 7573 60.95
Total 75.73 60.95
Note 26
Trade payables
As at As at
Particulars
i March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 1.81 5.51
Total outstanding dues of trade payables other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 137.20 127.33
Total 139.01 132.84
Trade payables aging schedule
As at March 31, 2025
Catenttad Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment
Particulars ot im T
ess than

year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small| 0.81 1.00 " - w 1.81
enterprises
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro 47.43 88.82 0.26 0.37 0.32 137,20
enterprises and small enterprises
Total 48.24 89.82 0.26 0.37 0.32 139.01
As at March 31, 2024

— Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment
Particulars
ukowd Leas than't 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years

wadr ye v Y Total
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and sma 4.58 0.93 - = - 551
enterprises
Total outstanding dues of craditors other than micro 110.33 14,02 224 0.53 0.21 127.33
enterprises and small enterprises
Total 114.91 14.95 2.24 0.53 0.21 132.84
Note :

1) Refer note 42 related party disclosures for trade payables to related parties.
2) Trade payables are non interest bearing.
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Details of dues to micro and small enterprises as defined under the MSMED Act, 2006

The identification of Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises is based on the Management's knowledge of their status. Disclosure is based on the information
available with the Company regarding the status of the suppliers as defined under ‘'The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006,

MSMED disclosures:
As at As at

Particulars

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
a) The principal amount and the interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the end of each 1.81 5.51
accounting year.
b) The amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of section 16 of the MSMED Act, 2006 along with the amounts of] - -
the payment made to the supplier beyond the appointed day during each accounting year
c) The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have been paid but - -
beyond the appointed day during the year) but without adding the interest specified under the MSMED Act, 2006.
d) The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each accounting year 0.02 0.02
e) The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the| - -
interest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible
expenditure under section 23 of the MSMED Act, 2006
Note 27
Other financial liabilities (Current)

As at As at

Purliniuce March 31,2025 | March 31, 2024
Measured at amortised cost
Employee related liabilities 4.27 458
Accrued expenses'’ 18.13 10.27
Creditors for capital goods 8.08 365
Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 241 2.01
Measured at FVTPL
Mark-to-market liability of financial instrument 0.47 -
Total 33.36 20.51
" Includes related party balances - Refer note 42 related party disclosures.
M t in Interest accrued but not due and fii charge:
Particulars AS AR

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Opening balance 2.01 1.34
Interest and finance charge accrued during the year (excluding amortisation impact) 37.98 26.10
Payment of interest and finance charge during the year (37.59) (25.43)
Closing balance 2.40 2.01
Note 28
Provisions (Current)
Particulars Agat As
Provision for Gratuity (Refer note 41) 0.40 0.43
Provision for Compensated absences 0.79 0.54
Total 1.19 0.97
Note 29
Contract liabilities
Particulars Adat As:at

March 31, 2025 |
Advance from customers 1.03 0.76
Total 1.03 0.76
Note 30
Other current liabilities
Particulars Asat As at

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Statutory dues 407 4.33
Total 4.07 4.33
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Note 31
Revenue from operations

Pifticiiliie For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

A. Sale of products 1,149.64 927.36

B. Sale of services

Marketing support revenue 108.22 74,68

Income from marketplace services 0.00" 0.10

Total 1,257.86 1,002.14

Within India 1,257 .86 1,002 14

Outside India - i
1,257.86 1,002.14

(A) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

The Company derives its major revenue from sale of products through retail stores and from marketing support services provided to various brands which is a single line of

business. The Company also derives revenue by providing advertisement services to its suppliers which is related to sale of product business.

(B) Contract Balances

Particulars A ot A at
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Trade receivables (refer note 14) 28.31 17.74
Contract liabilities (refer note 29) 1.03 0.76
(C)R iling the amount of r recognised in the statement of profit and loss with the contracted price
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Contract Price 1,258.13 1,002.51
Revenue recognised in the period from:
Revenue recognized in the current year from contract liability:
Advance from Customer (refer note 29) 0.76 0.40
Revenue deferred in the current year towards unsatisfied performance obligation:
Advance from Customer (refer note 29) (1.03) (0.76)
R from operati 1,257.86 1,002.14
Note 32
Other income
i For the year ended For the year ended
Faritae March 31,2025 March 31, 2024
(a) Interest Income on:
Security deposit at amortised cost 4.57 3.43
Fixed deposit at amortised cost 0.13 0.03
Interest income on Tax refund 0.35
(b) Others
Liabilities no longer required written back - 0.58
Foreign exchange gain (net) 1.76 1.51
Gain on cancellation/ termination of lease 212 0.97
Miscellaneous income 0.83 2.73
Total 9.76 9.25
Note 33
Purchase of traded goods
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Purchases of traded goods 0946.58 752.65
Total 946.58 752.65
Note 34
Changes in inventories of stock-in-trade
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Stock in trade
Opening balance 321.56 234.72
Closing balance 448.75 321.56
Total (127.19) (86.84)
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Note 35
Employee benefits expense
For the year ended For the year ended
Particulars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Salaries, wages and bonus 93.24 86.54
Contribution to provident fund (Refer note 41) 297 2.20
Gratuity expenses (Refer note 41) 0.52 0.51
Compensated expenses 0.25 (0.27)
Share based payment (Refer note 48) 0.50 (0.08)
Staff welfare expenses 1.50 1.47
Total 98.98 90.39
Note 38
Finance costs
For the year ended For the year ended

Pariculary March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Interest Expenses:

Borrowings 16817 B8.92

Lease liabilities (Refer note 40) 19.03 17.78

Inter company loan 23.08 20.35
Other interest charges 0.02 0.02
Commission on financial guarantee 2.28 0.99
Other finance charge 0.55 0.34
Total 61.13 48.40
Note 37

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Particulars

For the year ended l
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Refer note 4) 2415 19.55
Depreciation of Right-of-use assets (Refer note 7) 80.90 63.44
Amortisation of Intangible assets (Refer note &) 0.85 0.83
Total 105.90 83.82
Note 38
Other expenses
For the year ended For the year ended
i March 31, 2026 March 31, 2024
Marketing & advertisement expense 44 62 28.75
Consumption of packing matenals 423 s
Legal and professional fees 217 1.18
Web & technology expenses 454 3.48
Outsourced warehouse manpower cost 6.03 475
Brand usages fees 7.28 5.52
Payment gateway charges 4.24 0.13
Freight outward 8.01 7.23
Selling expenses 6.68 274
Recruitment expenses 1.32 1.07
Travelling & conveyance expenses 4.89 292
Allowance for expected credit loss (0.37) 0.42
Printing & stationery 0.37 0.53
Commission on sales 4.65 3.35
Rates & taxes 2.08 0.01
Insurance expenses 0.80 0.70
Rent and maintenance expenses 28.29 17.96
Collection charges - 3.99
Repairs & maintenance 698 234
Security expenses 0.70 0.53
Director sitting fees and commission 012 012
House keeping charges 3.32 246
Electricity charges 12.37 9.89
Bank charges 0.20 0.06
Auditors remuneration :
- Audit fees 042 0.37
- Other Matters 0.0 -
- Qut of pocket expenses 0.08 -
Miscellaneous expenses 6.71 7.07
Total 160.82 111.08
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Note 39
Basic & diluted earnings per share

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2025

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

Nominal value of per equity share 10/- 10/-
Profit after tax (A) 14.87 7.84
Total number of shares outstanding during the year 10,20,00,000 10,20,00,000
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year (B) 10,20,00,000 10,20,00,000
Basic earnings per share (A/B) 1.46 0.77
Dilutive effect on weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year (C) - “
Weighted average number of diluted equity shares (D = B+C) 10,20,00,000 10,20,00,000
Diluted earnings per share (A/D) 1.46 0.77

Note 40
Leases
The Company as lessee

The Company has lease contracts for premises obtained for offices, warehouse, stores etc. Leases of premises generally have lease terms between
1.5to 10 years.

The Company's obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor's title to the leased assets.

The Company has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. These options are negotiated by management to provide
flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio and align with the Company's business needs. Management exercises significant judgement in
determining whether these extension and termination options are reasonably certain to be exercised.

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under lease liabilities) and the movements during the year:

Particulars At heat
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Opening balance 165.14 183.43
Addition 127.07 42.96
Accretion of interest 19.03 17.78
Deletion due to closure (12.54) (6.27)
Payments (88.04) (72.76)
Closing balance 210.66 165.14
Current 75.73 60.95
Non-current 134.93 104.19
Total 210.66 165.14

The effective interest rate for lease liabilities as at March 31, 2025 ranges between 9.4% to 11.5% (March 31, 2024: 9.4% to 11.5%)
The maturity analysis of lease liability is disclosed in note 46
The following are the amounts recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss:

, For the year ended For the year ended
Partieoian March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Depreciation expenses of right of use assets 80.90 63.44
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 19.03 17.78
Variable and short term lease payments* 28.29 17.96
Total amount recognised in statement of profit and loss 128.22 99.18

* Includes common area maintenance charges

Note 41
Defined Benefit Plan and Other long term Employee Benefit Plan:

1) Defined Contribution Plan

During the year, the Company has made contribution/provision to provident fund stated under defined contribution plan amounting to 2 2.97 crore
(March 31, 2024: Z2.20 crore) and the same has been recognised as an expense in the Statement of Profit and loss.

Il) Defined Benefit Plans

The Company operates a defined benefit gratuity plan for its employees. The gratuity benefits payable to the employees are based on the employee's
service and last drawn salary at the time of leaving. The Company has provided for gratuity based on actuarial valuation done as per projected unit
credit method.
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A. The following tables set out the funded status of the gratuity plans and the amounts recognised in the Company's financial statements

as at March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024:

i. Amount recognised in the Balance Sheet

" As at As at
el March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Amount to be recognised in balance sheet
Present value of defined benefit obligation 2,858 1.40
Less: Fair value of plan assets - -
Funded status — deficit 2.35 1.40
Net liability recognised in balance sheet 2.35 1.40
Non current liability 1.85 0.87
Current liability 0.40 0.43
Net liability recognised in balance sheet 2.35 1.40
ii. Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation
Pariciilais For the year ended For the year ended

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Reconciliation of Defined Benefit Obligation
Opening defined benefit obligation 1.40 1.25
Current service cost 0.44 0.43
Interest cost 0.08 0.08
Actuarial Loss in obligation due to changes in financial assumptions 0.04 0.02
Actuarial Loss/(Gain) in obligation due to changes in demographic assumptions 0.21 (0.01)
Actuarial Loss/(Gain) in obligation due to changes in experience adjustments 0.31 (0.15)
Benefit paid (0.37) (0.22)
Liabilities assumed / (settied) * 0.24 -
Closing defined benefit obligation 2.35 1.40
* settled on account of inter group transfer
Net defined benefit liability/ (asset) reconciliation

: For the year ended For the year ended
fLssyFipess March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Opening net defined benefit liability 1.40 1.25
Defined benefit cost included in P&L 0.52 0.51
Total re-measurements included in OCI 0.56 (0.14)
Employer direct benefit payments (0.37) (0.22)
Liabilities assumed / (settled) 0.24 -
Closing net defined benefit liability 2.35 1.40

expenses and other comprehensive income

iii. Amount for the yearended March 31,2025 and March 31, 2024 recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss under employee benefit

For the year ended

For the year ended

Particulars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Current service cost 0.44 0.43
Interest expenses 0.08 0.08
Amount recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss 0.52 0.51
Actuarial Loss in obligation due to changes in financial assumptions 0.04 0.02
Actuarial Loss/(Gain) in obligation due to changes in demographic assumptions 0.21 (0.01)
Actuarial Loss/(Gain) in obligation due to changes in experience adjustments 0.31 (0.15)
Amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) 0.56 (0.14)
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B.The principal assumptions used in determining gratuity obligations for the Company’s plans are shown below:

- For the year ended For the year ended
Particula
i March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Mortality Table IALM (2012-14) IALM (2012-14)

Discount rate 6.65% 7.10%

Future salary increases 7.00% 7.00%

Withdrawal rates 22% for managers and 37% for managers and above
abeue 38% for frontline staff

30% for frontline staff v
IALM - Indian Assured Lives Mortality (Ultimate) IALM (2012-14) IALM (2012-14)

The discount rate is based on the prevailing market yields of Government of India Bonds as on March 31, 2025 for the estimated terms of the
obligations.
The estimates of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors.

The cost of the defined benefit gratuity plan and the present value of the gratuity obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial
valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the
discount rate, future salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit
obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

C. The following payments are expected contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years:

, As at As at
Particulars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Within the next 12 months (next annual reporting period) 0.40 0.43
Between 2 and 5 years 1.65 1.01
Between 6 and 9 years 0.74 0.26
10 & Above following years 0.41 0.06
Total expected payments 3.20 1.76
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period is 4.15 years (March 31, 2024. 2.93 years).

D. Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis of significant actuarial assumption as of end of reporting period is shown below.

. As at As at
Y March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Discount rate (-/+ 1%)

Decrease by 100 basis points 0.09 0.04
Increase by 100 basis points (0.10) (0.04)
Future salary increase (-/+ 1%)

Decrease by 100 basis points (0.09) (0.04)
Increase by 100 basis points 0.10 0.04

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on defined benefit obligation as a result of
reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assuming there are no other changes in the market
conditions. There have been no changes from the previous periods in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis.

These plans typically expose the Company to actuarial risks such as: interest risk, longevity risk and salary risk.

(a) Interest risk - A decrease in the discount rate will increase the plan liability.

(b) Longevity risk — The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan
participants both during and after their employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability.

(c) Salary risk = The present value of the defined plan liability is calculated by reference to the future salaries of plan participants. As such, an
increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability.

[This space has been intentionally left blank]
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Note 42

Related party transactions

A. Names of the related parties

Relationship “[Name of entity

Holding company FSN E-Commerce Ventures Limited

Fellow subsidiary® Mykaa-KK Beauty Private Limited
F5N International Limited (formerly known as FSN Intemational Private Limited)
Nykaa E-Retail Limited (formerly known as Nykaa E-Retail Private Limiled)
F5N Distribution limited {formerly known as FSN Distribution Private limited)
Nykaa Fashion Limited {formerly known as Mykaa Fashion Private Limited)
Dot & Key Weliness Limited (formerly known as Dot & Key Wellness Private Limited)
Nykaa Foundation

Di and Key M P Mrs. Falguni Nayar® — Director (w.e.f June 21, 2024)

Mr. Anchit Nayar® — Director
Mr. P Ganesh® - Director
Mr.Pranab Barua — Director

Mrs. Alpana Parida® — Independent Director (till November 3, 2023}
Mr.Seshashayea Sridhara — Director (w.e.f November 3,2023)

Mr. Kingshuk Basu" - Director (till Juna1g, 2023)

Mr. Sh Singh® — A (wef 3,2023)

Mr. Gopal Agiwal® — Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Harsh Gala® — Ci E y (till N 3, 2024)

Mr. V Iyar® - C (w.e.f February 4, 2025)

Mr. Pratik Bhujade® - Company Secretary (till July 31, 2023)

* Name of the related parties where the fransactions have occurrad
* There are no transactions during the current year

B. Transactions with Related Parties

Transactions T
i Balance as at as at
Particulars Nature of transactions during during
FY 2024-25 March 31, 2025 EY 202324 March 31, 2024
Holding company
Purchasas (net of discounts) 53.76 {0.88) 5847 -
Interest expenses 11.66 (0.13) 16.84 -
Rent expenses 245 - 2147
Marketing income {26.67) - {22.28) -
Net Loan repaidi(taken) 226 .41 (15.51) 11.55 (243.73)
Discount income - - {15.58) 132
Brand Usage Charges 7.28 - 552 -
FSN E-Commerce Ventures Limited Reimbursement of Expenses 1217 - 2502 -
Lease [iability - - - {3.67)
|Motional interest expenses - Leasa - - 0.44 -
Commission on Financial guarantes 228 = 0.89 -
interest Exp Loan 1.81 3.51 -
Share based payment axpenses 0.50 - {0.06) -
Other equity contribution - (31,38) (0,08} 31.38
Equity Contribution ~ (102.00) . (102.00)
Investment in Nykaa Fashion = = 0.00° -
|Fellow Subsidiaries
29.89 - 2574 (0.04)
Nykaa-KK Beauty Private Limited (5.65) 051 :g;g; ]
- - (0.01)
(0.24) 0.06 (0.24) s
FSN International Limited (formerly known as FSN Intemational PrivateMarketing expense - - 0.04 (0.05)
Limited) Reimbursement of Expenses 0.00" - 0.00" -
Discount expenses - - 0.02 -
Sales (net of discounts) (446.12) = (42137} 8.70
Purchases (net of discounts) 34.30 (7.81) 7825 -
Discount income - - (7.54)
Discount expenses - - wn -
Marketing expense 3081 - 10.72 -
Marketing income (38,22) = (25.85) .
Commission Expenses (Hyper Local) 0.82 - 0.69 -
Nykaa E-Retail Limited (formerly known as Nykaa E-Retail Private Limited) |Commission income (Endiess Ajsia) {0.07) - {0.10) -
Lease Liability = = = (0.21)
Notional Interest Expensas - Lease - 0.05 -
Reimbursement of Expenses 308 - 1.82 -
Purchase of Property plant and equipment 0.05 -
Rent Expenses 0.64 - 0.65 =
Net Loan repaid/{taken) (257.03) (257.03) -
Interest on loan 8.61 (1.85)] - -
Purchases (net of discounts) 0.16 - - -
—_ . - _|Sales (net of discounts) (4.50) = (5.01) 2.
Ei‘lﬂm‘ii);smhulm limited (formery known as FSN Disiribution Private| Merketing expense 089 0.23) 0.40 10.02)
Discount expenses - - 040 -
{Recovery)/Reimbursement of Expenses (0.48)] - _(0.05) -
Purchase of Property plant and equipment 0.01 - A -
Nykaa Fashion Limited (formerly known as Nykaa Fashion Private Limited) ¥l of Exp (0.07) 0.01 (0.08) 0.06
Investment” - 0.00* - -
Dot & Key Weliness Limited (formerly known as Dot & Key W {net of di 12,69 {1.33) 1.55 (0.25)
Privata Limited) 1Markaﬁr_|g Income (2.31) 0.40 - -
Nyksa Foundation Investment” - 0.00* - -
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Directors and Ma ent Personnel (KMP)
Transactions Transactions
Particulars MNature of transactions during :’a“:g: a;aaz‘s during ;‘hhw;a;;;‘
FY 2024-25 Gl FY 2023-24 il
Sitting fees 00 - 0.0 -

e Franeh S Cammission 005 0.05 010 -
Mrs. Alpana Parida Shah Sitting fees - - 0.01 =

: Sitting fees om - 0.00" =
Mr. Seshash Sridl

ayee Sthar Commission 0.05 {0.05) ;
Mr. Kingshuk Basu Remuneration & Reimbursemeants - - 0.68 -
Figures in brackets indicates payables and income
*Less than % 0.01 crore
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
i) The sales to and purchases from related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length i O ding bal atthe y d are d and interest free and settlement occurs in cash
There have besnna g provided or d for any related party recelvables or payables.
ii) Amount paid to KMF do not include the provisions made for gratuity as it is determined on an actuarial basis for the Company as a whole. Similarly, exf for ¢ are not ded in the above table as the
same is also determined on an actuarial basis for the Company as a whole,
Note 43
- arid ingent liabiliti
A. Commitments
Esti 1 amount of ining to be d on capital account and not provided for {net of advances) - ¥ 2.39 crore as at March 31, 2025 (March 31, 2024 : #1 51 crore),
B. Contingent Liabilities
The Company does not have any contingent liabilities.
As at As at
Prtculis March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
i) Claims against the Company, not ack ledged as debts
Disputed Indirect tax matters {including interest up to the date of demand, if any) [refer note (i) balow] 1.03 -

Total 1.03 -
Notes:

(i} The GST adjudicating authority has passed an order for FY 2018-19 & FY 19-20 with demand amounting to # 1.03 crore including penalty on account of short payment of GST liability and wrong avaiiment of ITC as per Tran-1. The
management believes that the position taken by it on the matier is tenable and hence, no adjustment has been made to the financial statements.

Note 44
Segment information
y is d in the busi of import, purchase, selling and distribution of beauty and weliness, personal care, health care, skin care, hair care and other refated products through retail uuﬂels. general trade and modern
frade. The Cumpanfs busmess activity falls within a single primary business segment, i.2. Beauty, Accordingly, disclosures as required under IND AS 108, Operating Segments, have not been sep in the ial
since the | is available directly from the Statement of Profit and Loss.The Company has identified Board of Directors as Chief Operating Decision Maker ('CODM') who reviews and !-lbucalas resources based on
"Business Segmenis”,

(i) The Company aperates in a single geographical enviranment i.e.in India,
(i} No singie external customer (other than related party, refer note 42) contributed 10% or more to Company's revenue.
(i) All nan current assets of the Company are located in India

Note 45

Fair value of ial asstes and ial liabilities

Below, is @ comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the C y's fi ial insts ts, other than those the Company capitalises costs for projects with carrying that are PP

of fair values.

: Carrying value as of

t-mculun Lavel March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Financial Assets: L

Amortised cost

Trade receivables 2831 17.74
Cash and cash equivalents 4.45 1.81
Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 0.0t 0.26
Other financial assets 7250 52.28
FVTPL

Derivative Financial assets " 2 5 .02

105.27 7211

Financial Liabilities:

Amortised cost

Borrawings 513.18 368.75
Lease lisbilities 21066 165.14
Trade payables 139.01 132.83
Other financial liabilities 3z2.88 20.51
FVTPL
|Derivative Financial Liabilities 2 047 =

896.21 B87.23

" Included in other current financial assets/liabilities.

The carrying values of the financial assets and liabilities r f at isad cost are bla approximation of their fair values. Accordingly, the fair values of such financial assets and liabilities have not been disclosed
saparately.

Valuation Methodology

The fair values of assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument can be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale, The fi ing meth and

P were used to esti the fair values:

The iques used to d ine the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities classified as lavel 2 mc!ucle uss of qunled market prices or dealer quules for sml.s! and g Ity pied pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis usmg ra!ns currently available for debt on similar terms, credit risk and . The Comp ermrs mla ivatis i Such as furward contracts with
various counterparties. The fair value of such deri are ined using forward axch rates, y basis spreads b P , efc

Note 46

Fii ial risk a bjectives and

The Company principal financial llabiliti rise b ings from banks, trade and other payables, The main of these ial liabilities is to finance and support the Company's operati The Company's principal
financial assets oumpma cash and bank ha!mce trade and other receivables that derive dm!clry from its operations.

The Company's is exposed to various financial risks such as market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Comg s sanior team oversees the management of these risks. The Board of Directors review and agree
palicies for manage each of these risks, which ara summarised below:

(A) Market risk

Markat risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a fi ial i will L of in market prices. Market risk mainly comprises currency risk, product price risk and interest risk.

The sensitivity of the relevant profit or loss item is the effect of the in ive market risks. This is based on the financial assets and financial fabilities held at March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024,
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(a) Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk primarily due to borrowings having floating interest rates. The Company uses available working capital limits for availing short-term
working capital demand loans and long-term working capital loans.The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that
portion of loans and borrowings affected, after the impact of hedge accounting. With all other variables held constant, the Company's profit before tax is affected through the
impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows

Particulars Increase / De:.:rease in basis | Effect on profit before
points tax

March 31, 2025 +50 (2.57)

-50 2.57

March 31, 2024 +50 (1.84)

-50 1.84

b) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company's exposure to
the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Company's operating activities denominated in foreign currency and thus the risk of changes in foreign
exchange rates relates primarily to trade payables and advances paid to vendors The Company's foreign currency risks are identified, measured and managed at periodic
intervals in accordance with the Company's policies. When a derivative is entered into for the purpose of hedging any foreign currency exposure, the Company negotiates the
terms of those derivatives to match the terms of the hedged exposure.

The year end foreign currency forward contracts and unhedged foreign currency exposure are given below:

(a) Derivatives (forward contracts) outstanding as at the reporting date (in respective currency):

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
——————— i Foreign currency Equivalent 2* Foreign currency Equivalent #*
Forward contracts to Purchases - Trade Payable UsD 0.30 25.94 0.15 12.42
Forward contracts to Purchases - Trade Payable SGD - - 0.00* 0.04
Forward contracts to Purchases - Trade Payable EURO 0.01 0.51 0.01 1.27

*Represents conversion at hedged rate
*Less than  0.01 crore

(b) Particulars of unhedged foreign currency exposure as at the reporting date (in respective currency)

Particulars Currency As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024
Foreign currency Equivalent ¥~ Foreign currency Equivalent 2"
Payables:
Trade payables usD - = 0.03 2.84
SGD ' . 0.00* 0.00*
EURO 0.00" 0.02
Advances:
uso - - - =
Advance to vendors against purchases / expense EURO - - - 2
CNY - - r -

*Less than T 0.01 crore
Since the business of the Company does not involve material foreign currency transactions, its exposure to foreign currency changes is not material.

c) Product price risk

In an inflationary economy, the Company expects periodical price increases across its product lines. Product price increases which are not in line with the levels of customers'
discretionary spends, may affect the business/ sales volumes. In such a scenario, the risk is managed by offering judicious product discounts to customers to sustain volumes.
The Company negotiates with its vendors for purchase price rebates such that the rebates substantially absorb the product discounts offered to the customers This helps the
Company to protect itself from significant product margin losses. This mechanism also works in case of a downturn in the retail sector, although overall volumes would get
affected.

(B) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit
risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables and security deposits).

a) Trade receivables and Security Deposits

The Company has adopted a policy of dealing with only credit worthy counterparties in case of institutional customers and the credit risk exposure for institutional customers is
managed by the Company by credit worthiness checks. The Company's experience of delinquencies and customer disputes have been minimal. Also, the Company has a
simplified approach o determine impairment loss allowance on the portfolio of trade receivables. This is based on its historically observed default rates over the expected life of
the trade receivable and is adjusted for forward looking estimates. Accordingly, the credit risk is covered by the Company. (Refer accounting policy 3(h) for expected credit loss
on trade receivable).

The Company also carries credit risk on lease deposits with landlords for properties taken on leases, for which agreements are signed and property possessions are taken for
operations. The risk relating to refunds after vacating the premises is managed through successful negotiations or appropriate legal actions, where necessary. Trade receivable
are non-interest bearing and are generally on payment terms of 0-90 days.
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Movement in allowances for expected credit loss:

K As at As at
Paitioulave March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Opening balance 1.56 1.14
Provision (reversed)/created during the year (0.37) 0.42

1.19 1.56

Closing balance

b) Other financial instruments and cash deposits

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Company's treasury department in accordance with the Company's policy. Investments of
surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each counterparty. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the Company's Board
of Directors The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through a counterparty's potential failure to make payments,

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is a risk that the Company may not be able to meet its financial obligations on a timely basis through its cash and cash equivalents, and funds available by way of
committed credit facilities from banks. Management manages the liquidity risk by monitoring rolling cash flow forecasts and maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. This
monitoring includes financial ratios and takes into account the accessibility of cash and cash equivalents and additional undrawn financing facilities.

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted

ayments:

Particulars Carrying value Less than 1 year 1to 5 years > 5 years Total
As at March 31, 2025
Borrowings 513.18 403.05 110.13 - 513.18
Trade payables 139.01 139.01 - - 139.01
Lease liabilities 210.66 92,83 144.98 12.53 250.34
Other financial liabilities 33.36 33.36 - - 33.36
Total 896.21 668.25 255.11 1253 935.80 |
As at March 31, 2024
Borrowings 368.75 273.93 96.63 - 370.56
Trade payables 132.83 132.83 - - 132.83
Lease liabilities 165.14 74.38 107.92 12.99 195.29
Other financial liabilities 20.51 20.51 = - 20.51
Total 687.23 501.65 204.55 12.99 719.19
Note 47

Capital management

For the purpose of the Company's capital management, capital includes issued equity capital, securities premium and all other equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of
the Company. The primary objective of the Company's capital management is to maximise the shareholder value.
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Company monitors capital
using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital. Net debt includes interest bearing borrowings less cash and cash equivalents

Particulars fAR gl
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Gross debt 513.18 368.75
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (4.45) (1.81)
Net debt (A) 508.73 366.94
Equity 32.82 18.37
Total Equity (B) 32.82 18.37

15.50 19.98

Met gearing ratio (A)/(B)

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024.

[This space has been intentionally left blank]
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Note 48

Share based payments

(A) Employee stock options- equity settled

Under the Employees Stock Option Scheme — 2017 (2017 Scheme), the stock options of the holding Company were granted to certain employees of the
Company. In most cases, the exercise price of the share options is equal to the market price of the underlying shares on the date of grant. Vesting period of
options are 3 to 4 years and options are vested equally over the vesting period. Vested options are exercisable as per the terms of the option plan, provided the
employee is in employment of the Company on the date of the vesting of the stock options and should not be serving his notice period. The fair value of the share
options is estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the share options
were granted.

The Company has recognised/(reversed) an expense of 0.5 crore {March 31, 2024: %(0.06) crore) arising from equity settled share based payment transactions
for employee services received during the year.

As at the end of the given period, details and movements of the outstanding options are as follows:

Options granted under ESOS 2017

Particulars March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Options outstanding at the beginning of the period 2,96,300 7,26,600
Transfer/Adjustment 7.83,050 -
Options granted during the period 1,85,000 1,70,000
Options forfeited during the period (2,91,880) (4,65,450)
Options expired/lapsed during the period (900) (1,950)
Options exercised during the period (4,11,550) (1,32,900)
Options outstanding at the end of the period 5,70,020 2,96,300
For options outstanding at the end of the period:

Exercise price range T 33.66-226.33 ¥ 33.66 - 226.33
Weighted average remaining contractual life (in years) 4.88 4.91

(B)Fair value of options granted
The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant based on the following assumptions:

Particulars EROSaniT
Tranche | Tranche ll Tranche Ill Tranche IV

Dividend yield (%) Nil Nil Nil Nil
Expected life (years) 1.99-2.00 273-279 3.45-3.48 4.13-4.14
Risk free interest rate (%) 6.39% to 6.94% 6.37% to 6.94% 6.37% t0 6.95% 6.37% to 6.95%
Volatility (%) 35% - 40% 40% - 45% 45% 40% - 45%
Market price on date of grant 17455-176.9

Fair Value 46.62-50.72 | 60.21-64.78 | 72.4-73.05 | 73.54-80.05

The expected life of the share options is based on historical data and current expectations and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur.
The volatility is based on annualised standard deviation of the continuously compounded rates of return based on the peer companies and competitive stocks
over a period of time. The Company has determined the market price on grant date based on the average of last 15 days closing price of shares on BSE index,
as on the grant date.

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of options exercised during the year was ¥ 175.38 (March, 2024 ¥ 151)

(C) Expenses arising from share-based payment transaction
The total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised were as follows:

Particul For the year ended For the year ended

kil March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Stock based compensation expense determined under fair value method recognised in statement of profit 0.50 (0.06)
or loss ) ]
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Note 49
Ratio Analysis and its elements
SN. Ratio Numerator Denominator March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 % Change Remarks
1 |Current ratio Current assets Current liabilities 0.89 0.85 4.81%
2 |Debt equity ratio Long term debt Shareholder's equity 3.36 516 (34.98%)|Decrease on account of
profits during the year
3 |Debt service coverage| Earning for debt service = Net|Debt service = Interest & Lease 0.59 1.42 (58.43%)|Decrease on account of
ratio profit after taxes + Non-cash|{Payments + Principal repayments during the year
operating expenses+ finance|Repayments
cost
4 |Return on equity ratic | Net Profits after taxes Average Shareholder's Equity 58.10% 54.36% 3.74%
5 |Inventory tumnover ratio |Cost of goods sold Average Inventory 2.1 2.38 (11.16%)
6 |Trade receivable|Net credit sales = Gross credit|Average Trade Receivable 54.63 48.50 12.64%
turnover ratio sales - sales return
7 |Trade payable turnover|Net credit purchases = Gross|Average Trade Payables 6.96 6.17 12.78%
ratio credit purchases - purchase
return
8 |Met capital tumover ratio|Net sales = Total sales - sales|Working capital = Current| (17.94) (13.73)| 30.60%|Increase on account of
return assets — Current liabilities sales during the year
9 |Net profit ratio Net Profit/ (Loss) for the year [Net sales = Total sales - sales 1.18% 0.78% 0.40%
return
10 [Return on capital| Earnings before interest and|Capital Employed = Tangible| 15.13% 15.64% (0.50%)
employed taxes Net Worth + Total Debt
11 |Return on investment |Interest income on fixed|Average investment in fixed 6.80% 7.29% (0.48%)
deposit deposit
Note 50
Audit trail

The Company has used accounting software for maintaining its books of account which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated throughout the
year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software, except that audit trail feature is not enabled at the database level and master fields as it relates to accounting software used for
maintaining general ledger.

Further, the Company uses certain other peripheral applications that support the recording of Revenue, Inventory and Purchase (hereinafter referred to as 'supporting softwares’), wherein
the audit trail (edit log) facility was not enabled throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software.

The Company uses a third-party operated software for processing payroll. Management has obtained the report of Service Organisation Controls (SOC) auditors engaged by such third
party for the period April 01, 2024 to December 31, 2024 which mention that the audit trail feature of the said software was enabled and operated throughout the year for all relevant
transactions recorded in the software or whether there were any instances of the audit trail feature being tampered with.

Additionally, the audit trail of prior year has been preserved by the Company as per the statutory requirements for record retention to the extent it was enabled and recorded in the
respective years.
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Note 51
Other Statutory Information

i. The Company does not have any transactions with Companies struck off.

ii. The Company does not have any charges or satisfaction which is yet to be registered with ROC beyond the statutory period.

fii. The Company has not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year.

iv. The Company did not have any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax
assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1981 (such as, search or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961.

v. No funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premiumn or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other
person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or
indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company (*Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee,
security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

vi. No funds have been received by the Company from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or
otherwise, that the Company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries") or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

vii. There are no proceedings initiated or pending against the Company under Benami Property held under Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (45 of 1988) and rules made
thereunder.

viii. The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or government or any government authority.
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